Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-14-2017

State v. Clarke Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45062

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

A police officer arrested Peter Clarke, without warrant, for an alleged misdemeanor committed outside the officer's presence. The police officer searched him and found marijuana, drug paraphernalia, and a trace amount of methamphetamine in a syringe. The State charged Mr. Clarke with possession of methamphetamine, possession of marijuana, and possession of paraphernalia.

Mr. Clarke moved to suppress the evidence obtained from his warrantless arrest and search. Among other arguments, he contended Article 1, Section 17 of the Idaho Constitution prohibited warrantless misdemeanor arrests unless the misdemeanor was committed or attempted in the police officer's presence. The district court rejected this argument. The district court refused to "go there" and rule certain misdemeanor arrests were constitutionally prohibited because, in part, "Supreme Court's not been too kind to district judges lately in their opinions, and I can't imagine what they would say about me if I were to be the first to go there, so I'm not going to." Accordingly, the district court denied Mr. Clarke's motion to suppress.

Mr. Clarke proceeded to trial. In her closing argument, the prosecutor misrepresented the evidence pertaining to Mr. Clarke's knowledge of the methamphetamine inside the syringe—the only contested element at trial. The jury found Mr. Clarke guilty as charged.

Mr. Clarke now appeals. He contends the district court erred when it denied his motion to suppress, and he asserts the prosecutor committed misconduct by misrepresenting the evidence.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

On August 2, 2016, the State alleged Mr. Clarke committed the crime of possession of a controlled substance, amphetamines, a felony, in violation of I.C. § 37-2732(c)(1). (R., pp.25–

26.) In separate citations, the State alleged Mr. Clarke committed three misdemeanors for possession of marijuana, in violation of I.C. § 37-2732(c)(3), possession of drug paraphernalia, in violation of I.C. § 37-2734A(1), and battery, in violation of I.C. § 18-903. (R., pp.23–24.) According to the probable cause form submitted by Kootenai County Police Officer Michael Hanson:

I was flagged down while at the Honeysuckle Boat Launch by Taylor V. Dan. Dan informed me she had been harrassed [sic] by a male. Dan also told me the male had grabbed her butt twice without permission. Dan said it had been unwanted and she wished to pursue charges against the male. I checked the area and located a male who exactly matched Dan's description. I contacted the male, later identified as Peter O. Clarke, who confirmed Dan's story and admitted to grabbing her butt. I placed Clarke under arrest for I.C. 18-903 Battery. While conducting a search of Clarke's backpack, I located syringes, a baggy of marijuana, and a baggy containing several small chunks of a white crystalline substance. I informed Clarke he was also being charged with I.C. 37-2732(c)(I) Possession of a Controlled Substance, I.C. 37-2732(c)(3) Possession of Marijuana, and I.C. 37-2734A(l) Possession of Paraphernalia. While at the jail, a partially filled syringe containing a white substance was located inside Clarke's right shoe. I tested the white crystalline chunks using a NIK-A field test kit, which flashed a presumptive positive for Amphetamines.

(R., pp.10–11.) This arrest occurred at approximately 7:00 p.m. on August 1, 2016. (R., p.10.)

Following a preliminary hearing, the magistrate found probable cause for possession of methamphetamine (instead of amphetamine as originally alleged in the complaint) and bound Mr. Clarke over to district court. (R., pp.37–39, 40; *see also* Aug. R., Prelim. Hr'g Tr.) Mr. Clarke moved to suppress all evidence obtained after his warrantless arrest. (R., pp.45–46.) Shortly thereafter, the State charged Mr. Clarke by Information with felony possession of methamphetamine, misdemeanor possession of marijuana, misdemeanor possession of drug paraphernalia, and misdemeanor battery. (R., pp.47–48; *see also* R., pp.60–61 (Amended Information).) Mr. Clarke pled not guilty. (R., p.58.)

Mr. Clarke then filed a brief in support of his motion to suppress, and the State responded in opposition. (R., pp.65–77, 80–87.) Mr. Clarke replied. (R., pp.91–93.) In his briefing, Mr. Clarke argued his arrest was unconstitutional under Article 1, Section 17 of the Idaho Constitution and the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution because these constitutional provisions prohibited a police officer from conducting a warrantless arrest of an individual for a misdemeanor committed outside the officer's presence. (R., pp.66–71, 72–75.) Due to his unlawful seizure, Mr. Clarke argued the district court should suppress all evidence obtained from Officer Hanson's search incident to arrest and his subsequent search at the jail. (R., pp.45, 77.)

The district court held a hearing on Mr. Clarke's motion. (R., pp.95–98; *see generally* Tr., p.5, L.3–p.45, L.25.) Officer Hanson and Mr. Clarke testified. (Tr., p.13, L.6–p.19, L.25, p.20, L.12–p.28, L.12.) The facts elicited from their testimony are as follows. On August 1, 2016, Officer Hanson was parked on the side of the road in the Honeysuckle Beach area. (Tr., p.14, Ls.8–12, Ls.17–18.) A woman, identified as Ms. Dan, approached his car to report a harassment at the beach. (Tr., p.14, Ls.13–21.) Officer Hanson took her report. (Tr., p.14, Ls.22–23.) Ms. Dan told Officer Hanson that an unknown male made "advances towards her," "sat down next to her," and "ended up touching her on the butt" "twice." (Tr., p.14, Ls.1–17.) Ms. Dan also told Officer Hanson that she had given the man her phone number. (Tr., p.18, Ls.21–24.) This interaction between Ms. Dan and the male occurred around 1:30 p.m. or 2:00 p.m. that day. (Tr., p.25, Ls.7–9, p.26, Ls.16–23.) Ms. Dan described the man to Officer Hanson as "a black male with a beard, approximately 30 to 40 years old, wearing a muscle shirt and

¹ Mr. Clarke also argued Officer Hanson lacked probable cause for the arrest. (R., pp.75–76.) In addition, Mr. Clarke argued the five-hour delay between the misdemeanor's alleged commission and his warrantless arrest violated I.C. § 19-603(6), which allowed a police officer to conduct a warrantless arrest for an alleged battery, but only if "upon immediate response to a report" of the crime's commission. (R., pp.71–72.)

orange shirt and black shorts with a black backpack and carrying a brown sack." (Tr., p.16, Ls.11–14.) Officer Hanson "remembered somebody matching that description" while he was at boat launch before his contact with Ms. Dan. (Tr., p.16, Ls.11–22.) About one minute after leaving Ms. Dan, at approximately 7:00 p.m., Officer Hanson found the man who he believed to match Ms. Dan's description (later identified as Mr. Clarke). (Tr., p.16, L.23–p.17, L.11, p.18, Ls.14–21.) Officer Hanson testified that Mr. Clarke admitted to touching Ms. Dan's butt, but Mr. Clarke believed it was consensual. (Tr., p.17, Ls.15–24.) Officer Hanson then arrested Mr. Clarke and searched him. (Tr., p.18, Ls.4–7, p.18, L.25–p.19, L.7.) Officer Hanson did not have a warrant. (Tr., p.19, Ls.2–3, Ls.6–7.)

The district court issued an oral ruling at the end of the suppression hearing. The district court first determined Officer Hanson had probable cause to believe Mr. Clarke committed a misdemeanor battery. (Tr., p.39, L.2–p.40, L.2.) The district court also ruled Officer Hanson complied with I.C. § 19-603(6) and, even if the statute was violated, "the remedy isn't suppression of the evidence," relying on *State v. Green*, 158 Idaho 884 (2015). (Tr., p.40, Ls.3–20, p.43, Ls.7–15.) Turning to the constitutional violations, the district court reasoned:

Suppression of the evidence is the remedy only when there is a Constitutional violation, so what makes up a Constitutional violation? At 158 Idaho . . . Page 884 [in *Green*] the majority opinion says, quote In the context of the Federal Constitution and its interpreting case law, an arrest is lawful if officers have probable cause to believe that a person has committed a crime in their presence even if such arrest does not comply with the statutes governing arrest.

So is this a case of a crime committed in their presence? You know, I don't think so. Does that make it automatically a violation of the Constitution? I don't think so. And part of the reason is that obviously this section of [I.C. § 19-603] has been in existence for quite some time. There are frequent violations of protection orders, violations of no contact orders, assaults and battery, frequent domestic violence assaults and battery, probably not that many stalkings and not that many second degree stalking cases, but all the other cases listed in there, those things happen every day even in the least busy judicial district, and the constitutionality of that has apparently never been tested, so I am—Justice Jones, Justice Warren Jones in his concurring opinion in *Green* says, "while Green's

arrest was properly supported by probable cause under the Constitution, it violated the statute," so at least in that phrase Justice Jones doesn't limit it to a crime being committed in their presence, and so I don't know if the portion of the majority under [page] 887 in their presence is determinative. It's kind of just discussed in passing. It—probably because they found that this was, in *Green*, a crime committed in their presence, same page, 887. "Therefore, having witnessed Green driving the vehicle, the police officer had probable cause to believe Green had committed an offense in the officer's presence," so I think that's a factor that just didn't need to be addressed in *Green*.

(Tr., p.43, L.18–p.45, L.5.) After reasoning *Green* did not address the legal question here, the district court ruled:

It may well be that this is a great argument, but I'm not going to be the district court judge that decides all assaults, batteries, domestic assaults or batteries, violation of protective order and violation of no contact orders that occur in the state of Idaho which almost universally occur outside the officer's presence is a violation of the U.S. and Idaho Constitution. I can't go there. Supreme Court's not been too kind to district judges lately in their opinions, and I can't imagine what they would say about me if I were to be the first to go there, so I'm not going to, so [defense counsel], if you'd be kind enough to prepare a quick order to that effect denying the suppression motion, and the case will remain set to trial.²

(Tr., p.45, Ls.6–19.)

Just prior to trial, the State moved to dismiss the charge of misdemeanor battery due to insufficient evidence. (R., p.118.) The district court granted the motion and ordered the charge dismissed. (R., p.120.) The State filed an Amended Information with the three remaining charges—felony possession of methamphetamine, misdemeanor possession of marijuana, and misdemeanor possession of paraphernalia. (R., pp.122–23; *see generally* Tr., p.46, L.1–p.199, L.9 (trial transcript).)

At trial, the State called just two witnesses: Officer Hanson and an Idaho State Police Forensic Laboratory analytical chemist. (Tr., p.129, L.10–p.149, L.15, p.150, L.1–p.161, L.24, p.162, L.4–p.164, L.14.) On the possession of methamphetamine charge, Officer Hanson

testified that he found a syringe in Mr. Clarke's shoe after he had taken Mr. Clarke to jail.³ (Tr., p.138, L.1–p.141, L.21.) Officer Hanson further testified that he removed the syringe from the shoe and saw a white substance inside, which appeared to be methamphetamine. (Tr., p.141, L.22–p.142, L.8.) He said that he took the plunger out of the syringe and a single white crystallized chunk fell out. (Tr., p.142, Ls.9–23.) The single, solid piece was so small that it did not register on Officer Hanson's scale.⁴ (Tr., p.147, Ls.14–24.) In his opinion, it was "a trace amount." (Tr., p.147, Ls.20–21, p.147, L.25–p.148, L.2.) Next, the analytical chemist testified that the trace amount substance contained methamphetamine. (Tr., p.156, L.23–p.157, L.8.) The jury found Mr. Clarke guilty of all three offenses. (Tr., p.194, L.15–p.195, L.10; Aug. R., Jury Verdict.)

For possession of methamphetamine, the district court sentenced Mr. Clarke to four years, with two years fixed, suspended execution of his sentence, and placed him on probation for three years. (R., pp.179–81; Tr., p.233, L.24–p.234, L.8.) For the two misdemeanor offenses, the district court sentenced Mr. Clarke to 180 days in jail, with 151 days suspended and credit for 29 days served, and two years of probation. (R., pp.177–78.) Mr. Clarke timely appealed from the district court's judgment of conviction. (R., pp.189–91.)

² Although the district court requested a proposed order, no formal written order denying the motion was filed.

³ There was no evidence presented on the "baggy containing several small chunks of a white crystalline substance" that Officer Hanson reported to finding in Mr. Clarke's backpack. (*See* R., p.11; Tr., p.129, L.10–p.149, L.15, p.150, L.1–p.161, L.24, p.162, L.4–p.164, L.14.) The State's evidence to prove the possession of methamphetamine charge relied entirely on the trace amount of methamphetamine in the syringe. (*See* Tr., p.124, L.13–p.126, L.22 (prosecutor's opening statement), p.181, L.25–p.184, L.6 (prosecutor's closing argument).)

⁴ Officer Hanson said his scale was "not a very sensitive scale" and threshold "might be" 0.1 grams. (Tr., p.148, L.24–p.149, L.4.)

<u>ISSUES</u>

- I. Did the district court err by denying Mr. Clarke's motion to suppress evidence obtained following his warrantless arrest for an alleged misdemeanor committed outside the police officer's presence?
- II. Did the State violate Mr. Clarke's constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the evidence in her closing argument?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred By Denying Mr. Clarke's Motion To Suppress Evidence Obtained
Following His Warrantless Arrest For An Alleged Misdemeanor Committed Outside The
Police Officer's Presence

A. Introduction

The Idaho Constitution prohibits a police officer from arresting an individual, without a warrant, for a misdemeanor committed outside the officer's presence. This Court recently reaffirmed this long-standing principle, as well as the tenets of interpretation for the Idaho Constitution itself, in *State v. Green*, 158 Idaho 884 (2015). Moreover, these warrantless arrests are deemed unreasonable by not only the Idaho Constitution and Idaho's appellate courts, but also the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. Here, the district court failed to apply these state and federal constitutional standards when it denied Mr. Clarke's motion to suppress evidence obtained from Officer Hanson's search of Mr. Clarke after his warrantless, misdemeanor arrest. Because Officer Hanson violated Mr. Clarke's state and federal constitutional rights to be free from unreasonable seizures, the district court should have granted Mr. Clarke's motion to suppress.

B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing an order denying a motion to suppress evidence, this Court applies a bifurcated standard of review. *State v. Purdum*, 147 Idaho 206, 207 (2009). This Court will accept the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous but will freely review the trial court's application of constitutional principles to the facts found. *Id.* Findings of fact are not clearly erroneous if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. *State v. Bishop*, 146 Idaho 804, 810 (2009).

State v. Lee, No. 44932, 2017 Opinion No. 103, p.4, 402 P.3d 1095, 1099–1100 (Idaho Sept. 22, 2017).

C. Officer Hanson's Warrantless Arrest Of Mr. Clarke For An Alleged Completed Misdemeanor Was An Unreasonable Seizure In Violation Of The Idaho And United States Constitutions

The district court erred by denying Mr. Clarke's motion to suppress because state and federal constitutional law both prohibit warrantless arrests for misdemeanors committed outside the officer's presence (frequently referred to as "completed misdemeanors"). The Idaho Constitution only grants police officers the authority to conduct warrantless arrests for misdemeanors committed or attempted in their presence. If the misdemeanor did not occur in the officer's presence, the warrantless arrest violates the defendant's Idaho constitutional rights, and any evidence procured from the violation is must be excluded. Likewise, the Fourth Amendment prohibits warrantless arrests for completed misdemeanors and requires suppression of any evidence obtained in violation of this constitutional right. Although the U.S. Supreme Court has not explicitly decided this issue, U.S. Supreme Court dicta, history, and traditional standards of reasonableness all support this constitutional protection. Each constitutional protection will be addressed in turn below.

1. <u>The Idaho Constitution Prohibits Warrantless Arrests For Misdemeanors Committed Outside The Police Officer's Presence</u>

Article 1, Section 17 of the Idaho Constitution states:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue without probable cause shown by affidavit, particularly describing the place to be searched and the person or thing to be seized.

IDAHO CONST. art. I, § 17. This section contains "nearly identical guarantees" as those in the Fourth Amendment of the Unites States Constitution. *Green*, 158 Idaho at 886.

Although Article 1, Section 17 and the Fourth Amendment are similar, Idaho's appellate courts "are not bound by the United States Supreme Court's interpretations of the Fourth

Amendment." *State v. Agundis*, 127 Idaho 587, 592 (Ct. App. 1995). As this Court recently stated:

"The similarity of language and purpose . . . does not require this Court to follow United States Supreme Court precedent in interpreting our own constitution." *State v. Donato*, 135 Idaho 469, 471 (2001). "Long gone are the days when state courts will blindly apply United States Supreme Court interpretation and methodology when in the process of interpreting their own constitutions." *Id*.

State v. Koivu, 152 Idaho 511, 518 (2012). This Court is "at liberty to find within the provisions of their constitutions greater protection than is afforded under the federal constitution as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court." Donato, 135 Idaho at 471; see also State v. Guzman, 122 Idaho 981, 987–88 (1992) (discussing this Court's power to interpret the Idaho Constitution independently and grant Idaho citizens more protection). As a result, this Court has "construed Article I, section 17, to provide greater protection than is provided by the United States Supreme Court's construction of the Fourth Amendment" "[i]n some instances." Koivu, 152 Idaho at 519. This Court provides "greater protection to Idaho citizens based on the uniqueness of our state, our Constitution, and our long-standing jurisprudence." Id. (quoting Donato, 135 Idaho at 472).

One instance of greater protection to Idaho citizens involves warrantless arrests for misdemeanors. Generally, a warrantless seizure is presumptively unreasonable under the Idaho Constitution, unless the State shows the seizure fits within a well-established exception to the warrant requirement. *Green*, 158 Idaho at 886–87; *see also Halen v. State*, 136 Idaho 829, 833 (2002) ("When a warrantless search or seizure is challenged by the defendant, the State bears the burden to show that a recognized exception to the warrant requirement is applicable."); *State v. Hunter*, 156 Idaho 568, 570 (Ct. App. 2014) (same). To determine whether a warrantless arrest is reasonable under the Idaho Constitution, this Court examines the statutory and common law in

effect at the time of the constitutional provision's adoption. *Green*, 158 Idaho at 887–88 (citing *Higer v. Hansen*, 67 Idaho 45, 55 (1946); *see also* IDAHO CONST. art. XXI, § 2 ("All laws now in force in the territory of Idaho which are not repugnant to this Constitution shall remain in force until they expire by their own limitation or be altered or repealed by the legislature."); *State v. Mathews*, 129 Idaho 865, 869 (1997) (stating substantive rights present in Idaho law prior to the Idaho Constitution were "affirmed by Article XXI, Section 2 of the Idaho Constitution")). With respect to warrantless arrests for misdemeanors, the law in effect at the time of the Idaho Constitution's adoption flatly prohibited such arrests unless the misdemeanor was committed or attempted in the officer's presence. This prohibition of after-the-fact arrests for completed misdemeanors is not truly unique to the State of Idaho,⁵ but nonetheless it provides its citizens with greater protection and is supported by Idaho's long-standing jurisprudence.

a. The law in effect at the time of the Idaho Constitution's adoption barred warrantless arrests for completed misdemeanors

At the time of the adoption of the Idaho Constitution in 1890, "the law governing warrantless arrests by peace officers in Idaho was found in Title III, Chapter V, Section 7540 of the Idaho Revised Statutes." *Green*, 158 Idaho at 888. It provided:

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