Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-2-2018

State v. Clarke Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45062

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

misconduct rises to the level of fundamental error. <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 228, 245 P.3d 961, 980 (2010).

A claim of error unpreserved for appellate review by a timely objection may only be considered on appeal if it "constitutes fundamental error." State v. Johnson, 149 Idaho 259, 265, 233 P.3d 190, 196 (Ct. App. 2010). In the absence of an objection "the appellate court's authority to remedy that error is strictly circumscribed to cases where the error results in the defendant being deprived of his or her Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal." Perry, 150 Idaho at 224, 245 P.3d at 976. Review without objection will not lie unless (1) the defendant demonstrates that "one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights were violated"; (2) the constitutional error is "clear or obvious" on the record, "without the need for any additional information" including information "as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision"; and (3) the "defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant's substantial rights," generally by showing a reasonable probability that the error "affected the outcome of the trial court proceedings." Id. at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

If a defendant objects to alleged prosecutorial misconduct at trial, the appellate court need not engage in the fundamental error analysis. Severson, 147 Idaho at 720, 215 P.3d at 440 (citing State v. Field, 144 Idaho 559, 571, 165 P.3d 273, 285 (2007)). Instead, the appellate court utilizes a two-part test for misconduct, "which asks whether the conduct was proper and, if not, whether it was harmless error." Id. (citing Field, 144 Idaho at 571, 165 P.3d at 285).

C. The Prosecutor Did Not Commit Misconduct In Closing Argument

Clarke argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the evidence during the closing argument. (Appellant's brief, pp. 25-32.) Clarke's argument focuses on three comments made by the prosecutor; the first and third were un-objected to, and the second was objected to but the objection was overruled by the district court. (See id.) All of the prosecutor's comments referenced the following testimony by Deputy Hanson about events that occurred after Deputy Hanson found marijuana and syringes in Clarke's backpack:

- Q. Can you describe to me generally what happens when someone's brought into the jail?
- A. Yes. So prior to escorting an individual into the jail I always inform them if they have anything illegal on them that I haven't located, uh, that could be an additional felony charge if they introduce that into the secure facility. In this case I advised Mr. Clarke if he had anything illegal that I had missed that he still had on him to advise me of that.

Um, then I – at that point I escort somebody into the jail where they are searched again by the detention deputies, and at that point their shoes and outer layer of clothing is removed.

- Q. So did you go through that procedure in this case?
- A. I did.
- Q. So as you're walking Mr. Clarke in did you ask him any questions?
- A. I did.
- Q. What'd you ask him?
- A. If he had anything illegal on him that the jail deputies might find on him.
- Q. And what did he do then in response?

- A. He began limping.
- Q. Did he say anything?
- A. I asked him why he was limping, and he said he felt there was a rock in his shoe.
- Q. Had you observed him walking prior to that point?
- A. I did.
- Q. Had you seen him limping then?
- A. He had not been limping.
- Q. And so then did the jail staff there search him?
- A. They did.
- Q. Did you watch that?
- A. I did.
- Q. So you were present?
- A. I was.
- Q. And did Mr. Clarke remove his shoes?
- A. He did.
- Q. And what did you observe when that happened?
- A. As Mr. Clarke removed his shoes, I took possession of them, looked inside of them. In his right shoe I located a syringe.
- (11/18/16 Tr., p. 138, L. 7 p. 140, L. 1; Exs. 3-4.) Deputy Hanson also testified that there appeared to be methamphetamine in the syringe. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 141, L. 22 p. 142, L. 23.)

During closing argument the prosecutor explained that Deputy Hanson had found the marijuana, syringes and Clarke's identification in Clarke's backpack. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 182, L. 10 – p. 183, L. 18.) After explaining Deputy Hanson found drugs and drug paraphernalia in Clarke's backpack the prosecutor referenced Deputy Hanson's warning about bringing illegal items into the jail and the questionable nature of Clarke's explanation for how the syringe got there:

Then let's go on. So when he goes to the jail, Deputy Hanson kind of warns Mr. Clarke, saying, okay, don't bring controlled substances in here, he asks him if he has anything else that should not be introduced into the jail, and then and only then does Mr. Clarke say, uh, there actually is something in my shoe, there's a rock in there, and his story is that it got in his shoe just the way a rock gets into your shoe sometimes. We all have experience walking. A syringe of meth does not work its way into your shoe as you're walking around. That does not happen. That story defies logic, and that is not a reasonable doubt, ladies and gentlemen.

Mr. Clarke – [as defense counsel] said, the issue that you might be concerned with is knowledge. Did Mr. Clarke know this was there? Did he know it was a controlled substance? Of course he did. That's why he didn't admit it 'til he got to the jail. That's why it was hidden in his shoe. That's why he didn't say it until Deputy Hanson said can't bring drugs in here, and then he remembered, oh yeah. He didn't want to be – he didn't want to be found with that again.

(11/18/16 Tr., p. 182, L. 21 – p. 183, L. 18.) Clarke did not object to this portion of the prosecutor's argument below, but argues on appeal that the prosecutor misstated the evidence because Deputy Hanson testified he told Clarke he could not bring "anything illegal" into the jail, but the prosecutor used the word "drugs" instead of "anything illegal." (See Appellant's brief, pp. 30-32.) Clarke's argument fails all three prongs of the fundamental error analysis.

First, the reference to "drugs" instead of "anything illegal" does not violate one of Clarke's unwaived constitutional rights. "A defendant's right to a fair trial is impacted '[w]here a prosecutor attempts to secure a verdict on any factor other than the law as set forth in the jury instructions and the evidence admitted during trial, including reasonable inferences that may be drawn from that evidence." State v. Parker, 157 Idaho 132, 145, 334 P.3d 806, 819 (2014) (quoting Perry, 150 Idaho at 227, 245 P.3d at 979). "It is improper to misrepresent or mischaracterize the evidence in closing argument." State v. Moses, 156 Idaho 855, 871, 332 P.3d 767, 783 (2014) (quoting State v. Rothwell, 154 Idaho 125, 133, 294 P.3d 1137, 1145 (Ct. App. 2013)). "Indeed, the prosecutor 'has a duty to avoid misrepresentation of the facts and unnecessarily inflammatory tactics." Id. (citing State v. Griffiths, 101 Idaho 163, 166, 610 P.2d 522, 525 (1980) (overruled on other grounds by State v. LePage, 102 Idaho 387, 630 P.2d 674 (1981)). Generally the parties are given wide latitude in making closing arguments to the jury and discussing the evidence and inferences that can be made therefrom. State v. Montgomery, Idaho _____, 408 P.3d 38, 45 (2017) (citing Severson, 147 Idaho at 720, 215 P.3d at 440). "The line separating acceptable from improper advocacy is not easily drawn; there is often a gray zone." Id. (quoting State v. Carson, 151 Idaho 713, 721, 264 P.3d 54, 62 (2011)). "In reviewing allegations of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court must keep in mind the realities of trial." Id. (quoting State v. Ellington, 151 Idaho 53, 62, 253 P.3d 727, 736 (2011)). A fair trial is not necessarily a perfect trial. Id. (citing Ellington, 151 Idaho at 62, 253 P.3d at 736).

Here, it was a reasonable inference from the evidence that Officer Hanson's question about "anything illegal" included "drugs." When Deputy Hanson opened Clarke's backpack he smelled marijuana. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 131, L. 19 – p. 134, L. 21.) Inside the backpack Deputy Hanson found marijuana. (Id.) The marijuana was packaged and labeled as marijuana, likely sold from a dispensary. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 135, Ls. 6-11, p. 136, L. 16 – p. 137, L. 14; Exs. 1-2.) Deputy Hanson also found syringes in Clarke's backpack. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 135, Ls. 1-21; Ex. 1.) Based upon these search results, it is a reasonable inference that when Deputy Hanson asked Clarke about "anything illegal" he might have on him, he was including illegal drugs.

It is also reasonable to infer that Clarke knew that when Deputy Hanson asked him about "anything illegal" he meant "drugs" because Clarke began limping in response to the question – and the syringe with methamphetamine was found in his shoe. Thus, it is a reasonable inference from the evidence introduced at trial that when Deputy Hanson asked Clarke about "anything illegal" on his person he was talking about illegal drugs and it is reasonable that Clarke knew they were talking about illegal drugs. Thus, the prosecutor's reference to illegal drugs during the closing argument was based on a reasonable inference from the evidence.

Nor is this alleged error clear from the record. A reasonable interpretation of the interaction between Clarke and Deputy Hanson was they were talking about illegal drugs. While the prosecutor did not use the precise verbiage used by the officer, it is clear from the context of the officer's testimony that he was referring to anything illegal, including

illegal drugs. Thus, Clarke cannot show that any error was clear from the record, and thus fails the second prong of the fundamental error analysis.

Finally, Clarke has also failed to show that the prosecutor's argument affected the outcome of the trial. The district court instructed the jury that closing arguments are not evidence. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 174, Ls. 7-17.) The district court further instructed the jury that if the facts represented by the attorneys in their closing arguments were different than they remembered then the jurors should follow their memory. (Id.)

Certain things you have heard or seen are not evidence including: One, arguments and statements by lawyers. The lawyers are not witnesses. What they say in their opening statements, closing arguments and at other times is included to help you interpret the evidence but it is not evidence. If the facts as you remember them differ from the way the lawyers have stated them, follow your memory.

(11/18/16 Tr., p. 174, Ls. 7-14; see also R., pp. 132, 156-157.) The jury is presumed to follow the district court's instructions. Moses, 156 Idaho at 871, 332 P.3d at 783 (citing Carson, 151 Idaho at 718, 264 P.3d at 59). Thus, the jury is presumed to have followed the district court's instructions that the closing argument was not evidence and to disregard the attorneys' representations of facts that differ from the jurors' memory.

Further, it is difficult to see how this argument could have changed the outcome of the trial. Several syringes were found on Clarke, but the only syringe containing methamphetamine was found in his shoe. The prosecutor's statement during closing argument did not affect the outcome of the trial.

Clarke's second argument focus on a reference to this same interaction between Clarke and Deputy Hanson, during the prosecutor's rebuttal. (See Appellant's brief, p. 28.) During Clarke's closing argument, defense counsel argued that the state failed to

show Clarke knew there was methamphetamine in the syringe. (See 11/18/16 Tr., p. 184, L. 9 – p. 188, L. 16.) The state responded by arguing Clarke knew there was methamphetamine in the syringe because it was the only syringe he hid in his shoe. (11/18/16 Tr., p. 189, Ls. 6-17.) The state went on to reference Deputy Hanson's warning about the jail:

[Prosecutor]: He was already being arrested. He was already being taken to jail. He'd already been found with marijuana and syringes, and it's not until the deputy's bringing him in, asked about controlled substances, asked him about drugs specifically –

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor. I believe the testimony was he asked if he had anything illegal, not if he had any illegal drugs.

THE COURT: That objection's overruled.

(11/18/16 Tr., p. 189, L. 24 – p. 190, L. 7.) Clarke again argues that this reference to "controlled substances" and "drugs" misstated the evidence. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 28-29.) Clarke has failed to show error.

Regarding the prosecutor's reference to "controlled substances" and "drugs," the same rationale as above applies. It is a fair inference from the evidence that when Deputy Hanson was talking about "anything illegal" he was talking about illegal drugs. Illegal drugs were the context for everything after the initial arrest for battery. While the prosecutor could have been more specific about how she was drawing the inference, it still is a proper inference. There is simply nothing else that Deputy Hanson and Clarke would have been specifically talking about.

Even if the prosecutor's characterization of Deputy Hanson's testimony was error, it was harmless. As noted above the jury is presumed to have followed the jury

instructions that instructed the jurors to follow their memory and that closing argument of the parties is not evidence. Further, the only syringe with methamphetamine was found in Clarke's shoe. And he only began limping after Deputy Hanson asked him if he had anything illegal on him. There is nothing inherently illegal about a syringe; therefore the limping was evidence of Clarke's consciousness of guilt. Nor was Clarke's defense based upon a distinction between "anything illegal" and "drugs." His defense was that he did know there was methamphetamine in the syringe. Clarke's defense was not that he knew he had something else illegal on him.

Finally, the third comment to which Clarke attributes prosecutorial misconduct involved the prosecutor's reference to Clarke's limping in response to Deputy Hanson's question and drawing inferences from those circumstances.

[Prosecutor]: That is when Mr. Clarke decided to say there's something in there, I remember now, there's a syringe in my shoe. Ladies and gentlemen, we can never tell what someone's thinking, right? That's not what you can do. It's not what I can do. We don't know what's running through someone's mind, but what we do is look at the circumstances. We look at everything about this circumstance, and everything here indicates that he knew there was a legal – illegal controlled substance in his shoe. He was standing on it, and that's why he hid it.

(11/18/16 Tr., p. 190, Ls. 8-18.) For the first time on appeal, Clarke argues that this argument misstated the evidence because Clarke did not verbally say "there's something in there, I remember now, there's a syringe in my shoe." (See Appellant's brief, pp. 31-32.) Clarke's argument fails.

As an initial matter, Clarke fails to argue, let alone show, that this comment constituted fundamental error. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 25-32.) Clarke appears to lump this statement in with the prior reference to "controlled substances" (which was

objected to) because they appeared close in time. (See 11/18/16 Tr., p. 189, L. 24 – p. 190, L. 7.) However, this statement was un-objected to, thus the fundamental error analysis applies. Because Clarke has not even argued, much less attempted to demonstrate, fundamental error, this Court should decline to review this unpreserved claim of prosecutorial misconduct. In the event the Court does review the argument, it fails under the fundamental error analysis.

First, the statement did not violate any of Clarke's unwaived constitutional rights. In response to Deputy Hanson's question regarding if Clarke had anything illegal, he began limping. (See 11/18/16 Tr., p. 138, L. 7 – p. 140, L. 1; Exs. 3-4.) Clarke was not limping before. (See id.) While Clarke did not verbalize "there's something in my shoe," his nonverbal actions in response to the question, clearly communicated to Deputy Hanson that "there's something in my shoe." The prosecutor's argument was about how it is impossible to get into the mind of another person, so the jury needed to look at the circumstances surrounding Clarke's actions to determine whether Clarke knew there was methamphetamine in his shoe. It was a proper argument based upon the evidence presented.

Even if there was error it is not clear from the record. Clarke's nonverbal reactions in response to Deputy Hanson's questions can leave some room for differing interpretations. However, because there can be differing interpretations there is no clear error.

Even if there was clear error, Clarke cannot show the error was not harmless, for the same reasons as articulated above. In addition, it is difficult to see how the prosecutor's argument could have changed the outcome of the trial since the syringe with methamphetamine was found in Clarke's shoe.

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